ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_

Certiorari to Lexington County,

Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge

\_\_\_\_\_

RECEIVED  
FEB 27 2017  
S.C. SUPREME COURT

SAMMY WIGGINS,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2016-002031

\_\_\_\_\_

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

\_\_\_\_\_

LARA M. CAUDY  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
P.O. Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**

**ISSUE PRESENTED**

Did plea counsel's failure to show Petitioner the video footage from the homeowner's surveillance system, which captured the armed robbery and burglary, violate Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the effective assistance of counsel when Petitioner would have accepted a favorable plea offer from the state if he would have viewed the footage before the offer expired?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Lexington County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner on December 13, 2010 for armed robbery and kidnapping, and on September 10, 2012 for first degree burglary. App. 329-334. In 2011, while Petitioner's charges were still pending, the assistant solicitor offered to allow Petitioner to plead guilty to attempted armed robbery with a sentence recommendation of seven to fifteen years' imprisonment. App. 231, l. 21 – 232, l. 3. Without having seen all of the evidence, specifically video footage from the homeowner's surveillance system, due to plea counsel's unreasonable oversight, Petitioner ultimately rejected this offer based on counsel's advice. The offer expired on June 25, 2012. App. 235, ll. 13-20.

Petitioner's case was called to trial on October 15, 2012 before the Honorable Howard P. King, and a jury. App. 1. After jury selection and pretrial motions, Petitioner, *for the first time*, viewed the surveillance footage that captured the armed robbery and burglary. Immediately upon viewing this footage, Petitioner decided to plead guilty. He ultimately pled guilty on that date to armed robbery, first degree burglary, and kidnapping without a sentence recommendation from the state. App. 101, ll. 19-23. Assistant Solicitor J. Angela Garrick represented the state, and Robert W. Mills represented Petitioner. App. 1. Sentencing was deferred until October 17, 2012. Judge King ultimately sentenced Petitioner to twenty-five years' imprisonment, which is a significantly longer sentence than Petitioner would have received under the terms of the plea offer. App. 162, ll. 9-13.

Plea counsel told Judge King during the plea hearing that Petitioner did not view the surveillance footage until that day due to counsel's faulty assumption that the surveillance footage referred to throughout the discovery materials was merely "still frames" that were "shot every couple of seconds." App. 138, ll. 10-18. Counsel asserted that Petitioner likely would

have pled guilty sooner if he would have watched the video and seen “how things actually occurred.” He also said his “advice may have been different earlier if we’d seen all of the discovery.” App. 138, l. 19 – 139, l. 3. Counsel asked the judge not to hold the fact that Petitioner waited until his case was called to trial to plead guilty against him because “once he saw what the video was . . . he wanted to accept responsibility for his actions.” App. 139, ll. 4-9.

Petitioner likewise testified during the evidentiary hearing that he “absolutely would have” accepted the offer if counsel would have shown him the surveillance footage before the offer expired because it was “in [his] best interest.” App. 202, ll. 13-17. He said he was not aware there was an actual video until the “day of [his] trial.” App. 202, ll. 6-12.

Assistant Solicitor Garrick maintained at the evidentiary hearing that she gave plea counsel a DVD containing the video footage in March 2012, well before the plea offer expired. App. 233, ll. 17-19. While plea counsel acknowledged that he received the DVD of the footage, he claimed he did not realize there was a video because the disk also contained a series of still shots taken from the footage. He explained that he thought the surveillance camera at the homeowner’s residence was programed to take a still shot every few seconds, and that he was not aware until after the offer expired that “there was an actual regular style video.” App. 216, ll. 4-20.

On February 12, 2013, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR) raising the claim argued in this petition. App. 164-183. The state filed a return to this application dated July 22, 2013. App. 184-189. With the assistance of counsel, Petitioner filed a Supplement to Application for Post-Conviction Relief and Incorporated Memorandum of Law on August 19, 2013. App. 190-193. An evidentiary hearing was convened on April 15, 2014 before the Honorable William P. Keesley. App. 194. Assistant Attorney General Walt Whitmire represented the state,

and Anna R. Good represented Petitioner. App. 194. By order filed April 18, 2014, Judge Keesley elected to recuse himself after discovering he had been involved in Petitioner's underlying criminal case. App. 282.

A second evidentiary hearing was convened on April 23, 2015 before the Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith. App. 283. The transcript from the previous hearing was incorporated into the record. App. 285, ll. 17-23. By order dated September 11, 2016, Judge Goldsmith denied Petitioner relief. App. 231-328.

The PCR court found Petitioner failed to prove that plea counsel's failure to show Petitioner the actual footage of the armed robbery instead of only the stills induced his decision to reject the favorable plea offer extended by the state. App. 325. Instead, the court believed Petitioner chose to reject the offer because he "was holding out for a more favorable, non-violent plea offer." App. 326. Moreover, the court found plea counsel "reasonably determined the stills . . . were all that came from the home surveillance system" and that Petitioner failed to meet "his burden to overcome the high level of deference required in post-conviction relief proceedings." App. 326-327. Therefore, the court denied Petitioner relief.

Because Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the effective assistance of counsel were violated when plea counsel failed to show Petitioner the footage from the homeowners' surveillance system and where Petitioner would have accepted the favorable plea offer from the state before the offer expired if he had seen the video footage, this petition for writ of certiorari follows.

## ARGUMENT

Plea counsel's failure to show Petitioner the video footage from the homeowner's surveillance system, which captured the armed robbery and burglary, violated Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the effective assistance of counsel when Petitioner would have accepted a favorable plea offer from the state if he would have viewed the footage before the offer expired.

Plea counsel's failure to show Petitioner the footage from the homeowner's surveillance system, which captured the armed robbery and burglary, violated Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the effective assistance of counsel. Counsel unreasonably believed that the surveillance footage, which was referred to repeatedly throughout the discovery materials, was merely a series of still shots. Petitioner was prejudiced because he would have accepted the state's offer to plead guilty to attempted armed robbery with a sentence recommendation of seven to fifteen years' imprisonment if he would have viewed the footage before the offer expired. Instead, Petitioner pled guilty as indicted without any sentence recommendation and was ultimately sentenced to twenty-five years' imprisonment.

A defendant has the right to the effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). Importantly, our Supreme Court "has held that a defendant has the right to effective assistance of counsel during the plea bargaining process." Davie v. State, 381 S.C. 601, 607, 675 S.E.2d 416, 419 (2009) (citing Judge v. State, 321 S.C. 554, 471 S.E.2d 146 (1996), *overruled on other grounds by Jackson v. State*, 342 S.C. 95, 535 S.E.2d 926 (2000)). The United States Supreme Court has also "made clear that the negotiation of a plea bargain is a critical phase of litigation for purposes of the

Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel.” Missouri v. Frye, 566 U.S. 133, 141 (2012) (quoting Padilla v. Kentucky, 559 U.S. 356, 373 (2010)) (internal quotations admitted).

“The reality is that plea bargains have become so central to the administration of the criminal justice system that defense counsel have responsibilities in the plea bargain process, responsibilities that must be met to render the adequate assistance of counsel that the Sixth Amendment requires in the criminal process at critical stages.” Frye, 566 U.S. at 143. “[A]s a general rule, defense counsel has the duty to communicate formal offers from the prosecution to accept a plea on terms and conditions favorable to the accused.” Id. at 145.

To prevail on his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, Petitioner is required to prove that (1) trial counsel’s failure to communicate the state’s plea offer constituted deficient performance, and (2) he was prejudiced by this deficient performance, *i.e.*, there is a reasonable probability that but for counsel’s deficient performance, he would have accepted the original plea offer. Davie, 381 S.C. at 608, 675 S.E.2d at 420. Additionally, Petitioner must show actual prejudice. “However, it is not always necessary for a defendant to offer objective evidence to support a claim of actual prejudice. Instead, depending on the facts of the case, a defendant’s self-serving statement may be sufficient to establish actual prejudice.” Id. at 613, 675 S.E.2d at 422 (citing Jackson v. State, 342 S.C. 95, 97, 535 S.E.2d 926, 927 (2000)).

In Davie, our Supreme Court found defense counsel’s failure to convey the state’s initial plea offer of fifteen years imprisonment to the defendant constituted deficient performance when the defendant later pled guilty and was sentenced to an aggregate amount of twenty-seven years’ imprisonment. Davie, 381 S.C. at 610, 675 S.E.2d at 421. This Court further found the defendant was prejudiced by defense counsel’s deficient performance noting “that the difference in the sentence [the defendant] received and the plea offer is proof of prejudice.” Finally, the Court held

that a new sentencing hearing was the proper form of relief for the defendant. Id. at 614, 675 S.E.2d at 423. This Court noted that there was no evidence in the record that the defendant expressed a desire to proceed to trial rather than plead guilty and, therefore, a remand for a new trial was not the proper remedy. Id. at 615, 675 S.E.2d at 423-424.

In Frye, which was decided after Davie, the United States Supreme Court found defense counsel ineffective when he failed to advise the defendant of a plea offer or allow him to consider the offer before it expired. Frye, 566 U.S. at 145. The Court held, “To show prejudice from ineffective assistance of counsel where a plea offer has lapsed or been rejected because of counsel’s deficient performance, defendants must demonstrate a reasonable probability they would have accepted the earlier plea offer had they been afforded effective assistance of counsel. Defendants must also demonstrate a reasonable probability that the plea would have been entered without the prosecution canceling it or the trial court refusing to accept it.” Id. at 147. The Court ultimately remanded the case noting that the Court of Appeals of Missouri failed to require Frye to show that the “plea offer, if accepted by Frye, would have been adhered to by the prosecution and accepted by the trial court.” Id. at 150.

In Lafler v. Cooper, 566 U.S. 156, 161-162 (2012), also decided after Davie, the United States Supreme Court found defense counsel ineffective when the defendant rejected a favorable plea offer, despite admitting guilt and expressing a willingness to accept the offer, after defense counsel “convinced [the defendant] that the prosecution would be unable to establish his intent to murder [the victim] because she had been shot below the waist,” which was “an incorrect legal rule.” Id.

In order to prove prejudice in these circumstances, the Court held “a defendant must show that but for the ineffective advice of counsel there is a reasonable probability that the plea

offer would have been presented to the court (*i.e.*, that the defendant would have accepted the plea and the prosecution would not have withdrawn it in light of intervening circumstances), that the court would have accepted its terms, and that the conviction or sentence, or both, under the offer's terms would have been less severe than under the judgment and sentence that in fact were imposed." Id. at 164. The Court found the defendant in Lafler suffered prejudice because he had shown that but for counsel's deficient performance there was a reasonable probability he would have accepted the offer, the trial court would have accepted its terms, and as a result of not accepting the plea and being convicted at trial, the defendant received a minimum sentence three and a half times greater than he would have received under the plea. Id. at 174.

In Kolle v. State, 386 S.C. 578, 591-592, 690 S.E.2d 73, 80 (2010), this Court found plea counsel was ineffective in advising Kolle that the state's initial plea offer was "not a good deal" and misinforming Kolle that the offer would remain open after a suppression hearing, when the offer did not remain open and was significantly less than the seven year sentence Kolle received. (internal quotations omitted). This Court stated, "Had Kolle known that the state would withdraw this offer after the suppression hearing, he may have decided to accept it and received a lower sentence." Id. This Court thus affirmed the PCR court's decision to grant Kolle relief. Id. at 593, 690 S.E.2d at 81.

Here, counsel's belief that the video surveillance footage, *which was referred to repeatedly throughout the discovery*, meant only a series of still shots was unreasonable under the circumstances and constituted deficient performance. Counsel should have inquired further regarding the existence of this video footage and properly communicated with the assistant solicitor instead of unreasonably assuming the still shots were all that was available from the surveillance system. A competent criminal defense attorney would have ensured that he had all

of the evidence before advising his client regarding a favorable plea offer from the state, particularly where the defendant was facing life without parole.

Petitioner was prejudiced because there is a reasonable probability that he would have accepted the favorable offer before it expired if counsel would have showed him the video footage that vividly captured the armed robbery and burglary. Petitioner testified at the evidentiary hearing that he “absolutely would have” accepted the offer because it “would have been in [his] best interest.” App. 202, ll. 13-17. This assertion is supported by the fact that, upon finally viewing the footage on the day of trial, Petitioner immediately decided to plead guilty despite that fact that a favorable offer was no longer on the table. Moreover, before this post-conviction relief action even arose, plea counsel told the sentencing judge that if the defense, including Petitioner, would have viewed the video footage earlier, Petitioner would have pled guilty sooner and counsel’s advice concerning the favorable plea offer “may have been different.” App. 138, l. 10 – 139, l. 9.

There is also a reasonable probability that the assistant solicitor would have adhered to the favorable plea offer if Petitioner would have accepted the offer after the footage was originally given to counsel. The solicitor testified at the evidentiary hearing that she gave the surveillance footage to counsel in March 2012 and that she did not revoke the offer until June 25, 2012, over three months later. App. 234, ll. 7-14; App. 235, ll. 13-20. If Petitioner would have accepted the offer to plead guilty to attempted armed robbery with a sentence recommendation of seven to fifteen years’ imprisonment during that three month period it is extremely probable that the solicitor would have adhered to the offer. Moreover, there is a reasonable probability that the seven to fifteen year sentence recommendation would have been accepted by the trial court,

particularly where attempted armed robbery only carries up to twenty years' imprisonment. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-330(B).

Additionally, the difference in the sentence Petitioner received and the plea offer is proof of prejudice. See Davie, 381 S.C. at 614, 675 S.E.2d at 423 (noting "the difference in the sentence [the defendant] received and the plea offer is proof of prejudice"). Petitioner ultimately pled guilty to armed robbery, first degree burglary, and kidnapping and was sentenced to twenty-five years' imprisonment. However, under the plea offer, Petitioner would have only pled guilty to attempted armed robbery with a much lower sentence recommendation of seven to fifteen years' imprisonment.

### **Remedy**

"The specific injury suffered by defendants who decline a plea offer as a result of ineffective assistance of counsel and then receive a greater sentence as a result of trial can come in at least one of two forms. In some cases, the sole advantage a defendant would have received under the plea is a lesser sentence. This is typically the case when the charges that would have been admitted as part of the plea bargain are the same as the charges the defendant was convicted of after trial." In this situation, a resentencing hearing would be the proper remedy. Lafler, 566 U.S. at 170-171.

However, "[i]n some situations it may be that resentencing alone will not be full redress for the constitutional injury. If, for example, an offer was for a guilty plea to a count or counts less serious than the ones for which a defendant was convicted after trial, or if a mandatory sentence confines a judge's sentencing discretion after trial, a resentencing based on the conviction at trial may not suffice. In these circumstances, the proper exercise of discretion to

remedy the constitutional injury may be to require the prosecution to reoffer the plea proposal.”