RECEIVED

JUL 17 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

ALAN WILSON
ATTORNEY GENERAL

July 14, 2017

The Honorable Daniel E. Shearouse
Clerk, South Carolina Supreme Court
Post Office Box 11330
Columbia, South Carolina 29211

Re: *Sammy Wiggins vs. State of South Carolina*
Appeal from Lexington County
Appellate Case No. 2016-002031

Dear Mr. Shearouse:

Enclosed for filing are the original and six (6) copies of the Respondent's Return to Petition for Writ of Certiorari and Proof of Service in the above-referenced matter.

Thank you for your assistance in this matter.

Sincerely,

Melody J. Brown
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

MJB:dmd
Enclosures

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

ARGUMENT

There is probative evidence in the record supporting the PCR judge's ruling that Petitioner did not prove plea counsel's failure to play and review the full surveillance video prior to expiration of a plea offer was deficient and critically and negatively affected Petitioner's consideration of that offer where: 1) counsel reviewed stills from the video, which depicted the same material, with Petitioner prior to the expiration of the plea offer; 2) Petitioner was aware he had been identified by the victim who knew him before the crime; 3) Petitioner was aware his co-defendant was going to testify against him; and, 4) the solicitor had previously stated on the record during the plea proceedings that Petitioner had wanted an offer of a non-violent conviction which she indicated would not have occurred given the facts of the crime.

When the question presented is analyzed within the proper legal framework as outlined above, and in light of the record before the PCR court, the record well-supports relief was not warranted. There is probative evidence supporting the PCR judge's determination Petitioner

failed to demonstrate the necessary deficient performance and resulting prejudice to be entitled to relief. The petition for writ of certiorari should be denied.

First PCR Hearing

Petitioner testified in his first PCR hearing that his trial counsel, Mr. Mills, advised him the State had offered a plea deal to attempted armed robbery with a 7-15 year sentence in or about August 2012, but Petitioner did not have a chance to accept:

... He came in and he had told me, he said that the State had offered a 7 to 15-year plea. And he, at that point in time - - well, he said the 7 to 15-year plea ... He told me, at that point in time, that he was still negotiating with the top of the line, like he was trying to get it down to a ten and whatnot. And he told me he would be back in a week because we had 60 days to accept or reject the plea. And, at that time I didn't see him again until the plea had been rejected and pulled back.

(App. pp. 200-201).

Petitioner also asserted he had not reviewed the stills from the video at the time he was advised of the plea deal. (App. p. 201). Petitioner testified that he only saw the video "for the first time in court," counsel then advised him to "take the plea, just to take the plea," and Petitioner reasoned he "didn't have any other choice but to take that plea because the other plea was already gone and I didn't want to get a life sentence...." (App. p. 204). On cross-examination he admitted that he previously knew the victim had already identified him, and confirmed that she knew him personally before the crime. (App. p. 205). He confirmed he was also aware his co-defendant was gave a confession that implicated him in the crime; the victim's properly had been found in her car along with his identification; one of the guns stolen had been identified; and, that understood that the victims had a home surveillance system. (App. pp. 206-207). He acknowledged the solicitor's statement at the plea that he rejected the prior plea offers

because he wanted a non-violent offense that would require the less incarceration time. (App. p. 212; see also p. 156). When asked why he “didn’t speak up and tell Judge King” that he was upset about losing the plea opportunity when the solicitor placed that on the record, Petitioner responded: “That would have been untrue.” (App. p. 212).

Contrary to Petitioner’s testimony about discovery, trial counsel testified that he did go over discovery with Petitioner before the offer expired, and took his laptop into the jail and showed him the stills from the surveillance video. (App. pp. 216-217). Counsel testified there was actually a better offer before the 7-15 offer that Petitioner rejected because “[h]e wanted a better deal.” (App. p. 219). Counsel was unsure why he could not see a running video, but explained the stills were from “every few seconds” of the action on the running video. (App. p. 221). He testified that it is different to see movement, (App. p. 224), and it does make the event look more specific with movement, (App. p. 228). He also testified: “Actually I believe when you look at them on a computer, it’s a little bit better on the stills about who it is and who it looks like.” (App. pp. 224-225). Counsel testified that he advise Petitioner on the evidence, but did not advise him not to take the plea “due to the stills.” (App. p. 228).

The solicitor testified that the 7-15 attempted armed robbery offer was pending around March 2012 to June 25, 2012. (App. p. 232). It was her understanding Petitioner “always wanted a nonviolent and that was never going to be offered.” (App. p. 232).

Second PCR Hearing

The State indicated that the transcript from the first hearing had been produced and given to the parties and prior defense counsel to review. (App. p. 285). The State indicated “... we are here today just to do an abbreviated review of the hearing just so Your Honor can make a credibility determination.” (App. p. 285). The parties specifically adopted the solicitor’s

testimony from the initial hearing. (App. p. 287). Next, Petitioner testified again.

In this testimony, Petitioner again stated he was not aware of the stills at the time of the plea. (App. pp. 289-290). He testified he would have taken the plea had he seen the moving video while the offer was pending. (App. pp. 291-292). He admitted he wanted a nonviolent charge as part of a plea agreement; but that was not the “only” reason he rejected the offer, confirming under questioning that he was “going” on “the evidence ... seen at the time....” (App. p. 292).

Trial counsel also testified again. Trial counsel presented specific dates that he met with his clients including the time between March through August of 2012. (App. p. 297). He testified:

... what I knew that we had was a CD or DVD that had stills, successive stills as if the video had been broken up into successive stills. I did bring a computer to the jail and Mr. Wiggins did see that during that summer before the offer had expired. But we did not have that I knew of whether it was due to some technological thing or whatever, but I did not know of a moving video until, as he stated, right before the trial. But we did have the still photographs which was a choppy version of a full video.

(App. pp. 297-298).

Defense counsel also testified the moving video “shows much more detail and shows a more – it looks worse for him in the moving video than the stills did.” (App. p. 299). Counsel candidly testified his advice *on the evidence* would have been a bit different had he seen the moving video before, “it looks worse than just the stills do.” (App. p. 302; see also p. 305). He also confirmed that “one of the issues during the representation” was that Petitioner wanted a nonviolent crime classification. (App. p. 304; p. 306).

The PCR Judge's Ruling

At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Goldsmith stated, after reviewing the transcript and considering the issue, he was “compelled to deny applicant’s motion.” (App. p. 309). He accepted the State’s argument, which was that Petitioner’s testimony was not credible on the issue and Petitioner failed to carry his burden of proof given the totality of the evidence. (See App. pp. 308-309). The judge noted that a difference in sharpness that may result from use of different technology would not be sufficient to warrant relief; and, while acknowledging that was not specifically the case here, the analogy was compelling. (App. pp. 309-310).

In the subsequent order, the PCR judge first found Petitioner’s testimony not credible that it was the failure to see the video that “induced his decision to reject the previous plea offer.” (App. p. 325). Moreover, in finding Petitioner failed to carry his burden, the PCR found:

This Court has taken into account the qualitative differences between still frames from a video and the actual video itself – keeping in mind that they depict the same material. However, in light of the substantial evidence of Applicant’s guilt in this case – his testimony that seeing the video rather than the stills would have prompted him to plead earlier is not credible. The Applicant was identified by the victim of the home invasion, who knew him. (Plea Tr., p. 72-80). The Applicant’s co-defendant was also planning on testifying against him. (Plea Tr., p. 116-17). Moreover, as explained by the solicitor during the sentencing hearing, the video stills captured screen images in consecutive orders, and showed the same thing that the full video would have shown. (Plea Tr. p. 156). Far more likely and, in this Court’s mind, compelling an explanation is that Applicant – an experienced criminal defendant – was holding out for a more favorable non-violent plea offer until he was ultimately faced with the prospect of going to trial on a very unfavorable set of facts. Indeed, Ms. Garrick testified that this was her impression from her discussions with the Applicant’s attorneys....

(App. pp. 325-326).

Additionally, the judge found no deficient performance based on the evidence presented:

“To the extent counsel’s failure was the result of an oversight or miscommunication, this Court finds the oversight was not unreasonable given the circumstances. Counsel could very well have reasonably determined the stills – which he described at the hearing as simply a ‘choppy version’ of a full video – were all that came from the home surveillance system....” (App. pp. 326-327).

In short, the PCR judge found Petitioner’s testimony to not be credible when considered in light of the full record. *See Davie v. State*, 381 S.C. 601, 608, 675 S.E.2d 416, 420 (2009) (“In determining guilty plea issues, it is proper to consider the guilty plea transcript as well as evidence at the PCR hearing.”) (quoting *Suber v. State*, 371 S.C. 554, 558, 640 S.E.2d 884, 886 (2007)).

Discussion

“This Court gives great deference to a PCR judge’s findings where matters of credibility are involved.” *Simuel v. State*, 390 S.C. 267, 270, 701 S.E.2d 738, 739 (2010) (citing *Drayton v. Evatt*, 312 S.C. 4, 11, 430 S.E.2d 517, 521 (1993)); *Lucero v. State*, 414 S.C. 238, 777 S.E.2d 409 (Ct.App. 2015) (review court will “give great deference to the PCR court’s findings of facts and conclusions of law”) (quoting *Porter v. State*, 368 S.C. 378, 383, 629 S.E.2d 353, 356 (2006)).

The PCR judge reasonably resolved the contest in favor of plea counsel. This is so in particular where Petitioner testified that he did not even see the stills before rejection of the plea. (App. p. 295). In contrast, and in detail, plea counsel testified:

... I remember it well. I don’t have to look at the notes... what I knew that we had was a CD or DVD that had stills, successive stills as if the video had been broken up into successive stills. I did bring a computer to the jail and Mr. Wiggins did see that during that summer before the offer had expired. But we did not have that I knew of whether it was due to some technological thing or whatever, but I did not know of a moving video until, as he stated,

right before the trial. But we did have the still photographs which was a choppy version of a full video.

(App. pp. 297-298).

While Petitioner maintained he was denied the opportunity to review the evidence in total before the expiration, counsel confirmed that he shared the photographs, though he also asserted “there was some difference between the two,” the moving video showing much more of the “detail” of the crimes Petitioner committed. (App. pp. 298-299).

Moreover, the guilty plea record reflects that the solicitor noted that her impression from communications in plea negotiations was that Petitioner “wanted to plead to what he wanted to plead to. He wanted to plead to for ten years nonviolent.....” (App. p. 156). In addition the plea transcript reflects counsel stated he had reviewed discovery “along the way” and had stills “shot every couple of seconds” though he had not seen the moving video until the *Thursday* before the *Monday* trial. (App. p. 138). This supports counsel’s testimony as well as goes to refute Petitioner’s testimony counsel pushed a plea upon looking at the video. The transcript further goes to refute Petitioner’s suggestion the plea was not so immediate as the plea judge noted in discharging the jury – and is supported in the full appendix before the Court – Petitioner did not make his choice until reviewing the evidence *and* hearing the pre-trial motions. (App. p. 128).

Another troubling admission for Petitioner is that Petitioner confirmed to the plea judge that he had no complaints of counsel at the time he entered the plea, and that he was, in fact, satisfied with counsel’s representation. (App. pp. 112).

Lastly, as the PCR judge correctly noted, Petitioner was well-familiar with the criminal justice system, having entered pleas prior to the plea challenged here. (See App. pp. 135-136; pp. 212-213, Petitioner’s testimony admitting he had pled guilty “four or five times”).

In short, the record fully supports the PCR judge's ruling. The petition for writ of certiorari should be denied as there is no cause to disturb the well-reasoned and well-supported ruling.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should deny the petition for writ of certiorari.